## IN THE SUPREME COURT

### OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 66,187

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellants, et al,

vs.

BROWARD COUNTY,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 17TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

LAW OFFICES OF J. ROBERT MIERTSCHIN, JR. Suite 250 2801 Ponce de Leon Boulevard Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 448-0773 Attorneys for Appellants

FILED

SID J. WHITE DEC 14 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By.

# TOPICAL

#### INTRODUCTION

This brief constitutes appellants' initial brief on appeal from a final order of the Broward County Circuit Court validating Broward County's \$590 million revenue bonds for a solid waste disposal facility.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stand in this Court and as they appear below. Broward County, the Appellee, will be referred to as "The County".

The Appellant, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "The State of Florida."

The other Appellants, South Broward Citizens for a Better Environment, representing over 3,000 persons, Bruce Head, Sylvia Clemmets, Phillip Beck, Steve Simmons, and Toby Miller, will be collectively referred to as the "The Appellants."

The lower Court is the Circuit Court and will be referred to as the "Circuit Court" or "Trial Court".

An Appendix is filed simultaneously with this Brief. The Appendix constitutes certain principal documents which were before the Trial Court on consideration of the bond validation Complaint.

The following symbols will be used for the purposes of clarity and identification of the record:

"Fla. App." stands for the comprehensive Appendix which constitutes the principle documents before the Trial Court and which has been filed with the State of Florida's Brief.

"Sup. App." stands for the Appendix of these Appellants that have been filed with this Brief and supplements the State of Florida's Appendix.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is an Appeal from the Broward Circuit Court validating \$590,000,000.00 of revenue bonds to be issued by Broward County.

The County intends to finance a solid waste disposal facility by issuing industrial development bonds. (I.D.B.'s) The County has no intend to develop this project alone but will contract with a private vendor requiring the vendor to acquire, construct, and install solid waste disposal and conversion facilities.(Fla. App. p. 1, 10, 304, 349, 350). The idea of the project is basically to convert garbage to electricity and any unprocessable garbage and residue from the processing such as ash will be stored in landfills. (Fla. App. p. 28).

The County, in its first resolution with regard to this matter, 84-964, clearly indicated that they would be using industrial development bonds (IDB's) to finance this project.(Fla. App. p. 1). The resolution specified that IDB's would be issued pursuant to the Florida Industrial Development Financing Act, Part II, Chapter 159 of the Florida Statutes (hereafter referred to as the IDB Act). (Fla. App. p. 1).

On September 4th, 1984, the County adopted its second resolution on this matter, 84-2053, stating that it would finance the project with IDB's, and alleged compliance with the IDB Act by making certain findings of fact and

conclusions.(Fla. App. p. 10). The resolution specified that the IDB's would be payable solely from revenues derived from the sale, operation or leasing of the project and further specified that in accordance with Section 166.111 the County would issue special obligation bonds secured by the half-cent sales tax in order to guarantee payment on the IDB's. (Fla. App. p. 10, 11).

The County stated that the special obligation bonds would "induce the purchasers of the bonds to purchase the bonds and to induce any insuror or financial institution which may provide bond insurance or a credit facility for the bonds based upon the assurance that there will a source of monies available to pay any deficiency amount and accordingly such covenant and agreement will be deemed by the County to create a contractual obligation to such bond purchasers and to any such insurer or financial institution which may provide bond insurance or a credit facility entitled to protection and enforcement under the United States Constitution". (Fla. App. p. 22).

The County's Resolution 84-2053 further specified that they had met all criteria and requirements of the IDB Act, Section 159.29 by specifically finding that the project would be sold to a financially responsible corporation, and that adequate provision will be made for said financial arrangements for the operation, repair and maintenance of the project at the expense of the company. (Fla. App. p. 14, 15).

Following the adoption of resolution 84-964 and 84-153, the County filed a bond validation complaint asking the Court to approve issuing IDB's and the issuance of special obligation bonds. (Fla. App. p. 32). State of Florida as well as other residents and tax payers and the appellants in this proceeding filed an answer opposing the bond validation complaint. Among the affirmative defenses raised by the defendants were 1. the County failed to comply with the IDB Act by failing to select a vendor and 2. the County pledged credit to a private corporation contrary to the Florida Constitution, Article VIII Section 10. (Fla. App. p. 84, 94).

The evidence at the bond validation hearing disclosed that no vendor had been selected by the County. Without a vendor, the County could not have acted in accordance with the IDB Act 159.29. Specifically, the County could not find that the vendor is financially responsible and fully capable and willing to fulfill its obligations under the financing agreement, including the obligation to make payments in the amounts and at the times required and was capable of operating, repairing and maintaining the project at its own expense. In determining financial responsibility of the vendor the County could not have given any consideration to a party's ratio of current assets and current liabilities, its net worth, earnings trends, coverage of all fixed charges, the inherent stability of the company, any guarantee of the obligations by some other

financially responsible corporation, firm or person and other factors determinative of the capability of the party to financially or otherwise fulfill its obligations consistent with the purposes of the IDB Act.

The evidence discloses that the financial agreement between the County and the proposed vendor would obligate the County to deliver 1,095,000 tons of garbage to the vendor at the sites. (Fla. App. p. 250, Sup. App. p. 13, 14). The County, at the present time, only has capacity to deliver 160,000 tons of garbage per year. (Sup. App. p. 14). The current deficit between what the County can deliver and what it is obligated to deliver is 935,000 tons of garbage. If the County does not deliver the required tonnage under the agreement, the County will be obligated to pay the vendor a tipping fee.(Fla. App. p. 250; Sup. App. 15, 22). This has been called the "put or pay obligation". (Fla. App. p. 250, Sup. App.) In other words, if the County cannot put the garbage at the site, then the County will be obligated to pay a tipping fee. (Fla. App. p. 250; Sup. App. 15, 22.) The tipping fee has not been determined, however, it can range up to \$25.00 or \$30.00 or more per ton. (Sup. App. p. 22.) At the current deficit of 935,000 tons with a tipping fee of \$25.00 per ton the unincorporated County residents could be required to pay over 23 million dollars. (Fla. App. p. 251; Sup. App. p. 18, 19, 21, 22.) The County will require residents in the

unincorporated area of the County to pay the tipping fees by assessing the residents annually. (Fla. App. p. 250, 251; Sup. App. p. 16.)

During the course of the proceedings, and at the conclusion of the evidence, the County abandoned its position seeking validation of IDB's but contended that revenue bonds could be issued in accordance with Section 166.111 Florida Statutes. (Fla. App. p. 326, 327, 364.)

The Court found that the revenue bonds could be financed by the County and issued pursuant to Section 166.111. (Fla. App. 252.)

## ISSUE ON APPEAL

. •

WHETHER THE COUNTY CONTRARY TO ARTICLE VII, SECTION 10 OF THE 1968 CONSTITUTION UNLAWFULLY PLEDGED ITS CREDIT TO A PRIVATE CORPORATION.

.

## Α.

WHETHER THE "PUT A PAY OBLIGATION" OF THE COUNTY TO A PRIVATE CONTRACTOR IS AN UNLAWFUL PLEDGE OF CREDIT.

B.

WHETHER THE COUNTY'S SPEICAL OBLIGATION BONDS SECURED BY A HALF CENT SALES TAX IS AN UNLAWFUL PLEDGE TO A PRIVATE CORPORATION.

#### ARGUMENT

## THE COUNTY CONTRARY TO ARTICLE VII, SECTION 10, OF THE 1968 CONSTITUTION HAS UNLAWFULLY PLEDGED ITS CREDIT TO A PRIVATE CORPORATION.

An appropriate place to begin an analysis of the prohibition of a County's pledge of credit to aid a private corporation is with Article VII, sections 10, of the 1968 Florida Constitution. This prohibition in its present form reads as follows:

Neither the state nor any county, school district, municipality, special district, or agency of any of them, shall become a joint owner with, or stockholder of, or give, lend or use its taxing power or credit to aid any corporation, association, partnership or person; but this shall not prohibit laws authorizing: (a) the investment of public trust funds; (b) the investment of other public funds in obligations of, or insured by, the United States or any of its intrumentalities; (c) the issuance and sale by any county, municipality, special district or other local governmental body of (1) revenue bonds to finance or refinance the cost of capital projects for airports or port facilities, or (2) revenue bonds to finance or refinance the cost of capital projects for industrial or manufacturing plants to the extent that the interest thereon is exempt from income taxes under the then existing laws of the United States, when, in either case, the revenue bonds are payable solely from revenue derived from the sale, operation or leasing of the projects. If any project so financed, or any part thereof, is occupied or operated by any private corporation, association, partnership or person pursuant to contract or lease with the issuing body, the

property interest created by such contract or lease shall be subject to taxation to the same extent as other privately owned property. (d) a municipality, county, special district, or agency of any of them, being a joint owner of, giving, or lending or using its taxing power or credit for the joint ownership, construction and operation of electrical energy generating or transmission facilities with any corporation, association, partnership or person.

The origin of this organic law was preceded by Article IX, Section 10 of the 1885 Florida Constitution and prior to that it was adopted as an Amendment in 1875 to Section 7 of Article XIII of the Constitution of 1868.

Mr. Justice Terrell in <u>Bailey v City of Tampa</u>, 92 Fla. 1030, 111 So.119, 120 (1926) very eloquently stated the reasoning of our astute forefathers when this section was originally adopted:

The reason for this amendment was that, during the years immediately preceding its adoption, the state and many of its counties, cities, and towns had by legislative enactment become stockholders or bondholders in, and had in other ways loaned their credit to, and had become interested in the organization and operation of, railroads, banks, and other commercial institutions. Many of these institutions were poorly managed, and either failed or become heavily involved, and, as a result, the state, counties, and cities interested in them became responsible for their debts and other obligations.\*\*\*Hence the amendment, the essence of which was to restrict the activities and functions of the state, county, and municipality to that of

government, and <u>forbid their engaging</u> <u>directly or indirectly in commercial</u> <u>enterprises.</u> (Emphasis added.)

This Court, in <u>State v Town of North Miami</u>, 59 So.2d 779 (Fla. 1952) reaffirmed the principle that the expenditure of public money for a private purpose whether from ad valorem taxes, by gift or otherwise is prohibited and appropriately stated:

Our organic law prohibits the expenditure of public money for a private purpose. Ιt does not matter whether the money is derived by ad valorem taxes, by gift, or otherwise. It is public money and under our organic law public money cannot be appropriated for a private purpose or used for the purpose of acquiring property for the benefit of a private concern. It does not matter that such undertakings may be called or how worthwhile they may appear to be at the passing moment. The financing of private enterprises by means of public funds is entirely foreign to a proper concept of our constitutional system. Experience has shown that such encroachments will lead inevitably to the ultimate destruction of the private enterprise system.

The overall intent of this section, to avoid any entanglement of the State's credit with private enterprise, was made clear in <u>Dade County v Michigan Mutual Liability Company</u>, 174 So.2d 3, 5 (Fla. 1964) when the Court said that "reading the whole section, it is patent that the design of it was to <u>keep the State out of private business; to insulate State funds</u> <u>against loans to individual corporations or associations and to</u> <u>withhold the State's credit from entanglement in private</u> <u>enterprise</u>." (Emphasis added.)

Prior to the 1968 Constitution, Article VII, section 10, industrial revenue development bonds had been proscribed as an invalid lending of public credit for private purposes. See State v Manatee County Court Authority, 193 So.2d 162 (Fla. 1966); State v Town of North Miami, 59 So.2d 779 (Fla. 1952), City of West Palm Beach v State of Florida, 113 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1959); State v Clay County Development Authority, 140 So.2d 576 (Fla. 1962). Only if the project to be financed was of paramount public importance and the private benefit waas strictly incidental did this court approve such financing. See Panama City v State, 93 So.2d 608 (Fla. 1957); State v Daytona Beach Racing and Recreational Facilities District, 89 So.2d 34 (Fla. 1956). Following adoption of the 1968 Constitution, article VII section 10(c) permits counties, municipalities or other local governmental bodies to finance capital projects for industrial or manufacturing plants by revenue bonds. The revenue bonds must be payable solely from revenue derived from the sale, operation or leasing of the projects.

"To implement this new exception, the legislature passed Chapter 69-104, Laws of Florida, in 1969. See <u>State v County</u> <u>of Dade</u>, 250 So.2d 875, 877 (Fla. 1971). See also section 159.26 Fla. Stat. (1981). Codified as Part II of Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, the 'Florida Industrial Development Financing Act' specifically permitted, as does the Constution, financing

of 'industrial or manufacturing plants.'" <u>Orange County</u> <u>Industrial Development Authority v State</u>, 427 So.2d 174, 177. (Fla. 1983).

However, if the "contested project does not fall within that authorized type, then the project must 'run the gauntlet' and pass scrutiny under the cases decided prior to the 1968 Constitutional change to see if it is permissible under article VII, section 10's general rule requiring a paramount public purpose. Only then can the project be validated." <u>Orange County Industrial Development</u> Authority v State, supra. 177.

Before determining whether this project has a paramount public purpose, the County must first hurtle the issue of whether they have improperly pledged their credit to a private enterprise.

> THE "PUT AND PAY OBLIGATION" OF THE COUNTY TO A PRIVATE CONTRACTOR IS AN UNLAWFUL PLEDGE OF CREDIT.

Α.

In <u>Nohrr v Brevard County Educational Facilities</u> <u>Authority</u>, 247 So.2d 304, 309 (Fla. 1971), the court attempted to define the term "credit" as applied to revenue bonds and as used in article VII, section 10;

> The word 'credit' as used in Fla. Constitution art. VII, § 10 (1968), implies the imposition of some new financial liability upon the state or a political subdivision which in effect results in the creation of a state or political subdivision debt for the benefit of private enterprises.

In order to have a gift, loan or use of public credit, the public must be either directly or contingently liable to pay something to somebody. Emphasis added.

In <u>Betz v Jacksonville Transportation Authority</u>, 277 So.2d 769, (Fla. 1973), this court narrowed the scope and meaning of the term "credit". The City of Jacksonville established an authority to purchase and operate a bus service. Revenue bonds were to be issued to finance the project. A private management corporation was employed. The corporation's mangement fee would be payed solely from the operational revenues of the project and not from any charges against the tax payers of the city or revenues or the taxing authority of the city. The court in finding no scheme, device or artifice would be employed either indirectly or contingently to obligate the citizens or city to pay the private corporate fee the court appropriately held:

If the management contract either directly, indirectly, or contingently bound the City of Jacksonville or the citizens thereof to pay the deferred management fees from ad valorem revenues instead of from the operational revenues and the funds heretofore appropriated and allocated to the Authority for the acquisition and operation of the bus system, the same would be invalid in the absence of a requisite approving referendum vote. See Nohrr v Brevard County Education Fac. Auth., supra, 247 So.2d at 309. We do not find anything in the management or purchase contracts that constitutes a scheme or device of the kind denounced in Kathleen Citrus Land Co. v City of Lakeland, 124 Fla. 659, 169 So.356, to pledge the public credit or taxing power.

In State v Florida Keys Aqueduct Commission, 4 So.2d 662 (1941) this Court examined the financial arrangements between the City and a private corporation to determine if the City's obligation to purchase water was a "bond" that constituted and unconstitutional lending of the City's credit. The City under a lease agreement was obligated to purchase an amount of water that it wanted or saw fit to purchase. The agreement was not a requirement's contract obligating the City to buy more than it needed. If the contract were for more than what was needed, then it would be an unlawful extention of the City's credit to a private corporation. The Court on the facts of that case appropriately stated that the "lease creates no debts on the part of the City, nor is there any obligation on the part of the City to subscribe or to be furnished or to pay for any water supply, except that for which the City may see fit to contract." State v Florida Keys, supra at 671.

The facts in this case disclose the County will contract with a private vendor to construct, operate and maintain this project. The terms of the financing contract provides the City under a "put or pay obligation" will be obligated to supply a minimum of 1,095,000 tons of garbage per year to the private contractor. For every ton of garbage not delivered, the County will pay a tipping fee and in addition the County will pay the contractor's lost share of energy revenues that would have been derived from the energy produced from the garbage. The tipping

fee has not been established but could be any figure or could be as little as \$25.00 per ton. The County presently controls about 160,000 tons of garbage per year. The County has a current deficit of 935,000 tons of garbage that it cannot presently deliver to the contractor. The County will be obligated to pay the contractor a tipping fee on each of the 935,000 tons of garbage plus the loss of energy revenues. If the tipping fee were \$25.00 per ton, the County's obligation on the tipping fee alone could cost over \$23,000,000 dollars annually to the County and its tax payers.

The corportion obviously needs a certain amount of garbage, 1,095,000 tons to produce electricity which will in turn generate energy revenues. The energy revenues are necessary to produce a profit for the company as well as service the debt on the revenue bonds. If the contractor does not receive the required 1,095,000 tons of garbage, he may default on the bonds or lose a profit. The "put or pay obligation" is a guarantee to the contractor that the County will financially support this company through thick or thin.

ý

This "put or pay obligation" is exactly the type of requirements contract that the Court in <u>State v Florida Keys</u>, supra, condemned. In that case, the City was only obligated to buy what it needed. The City in <u>Florida Keys</u> had a quid pro quo contract. The City purchased and received water as was needed in exchange for payment. This case is just the

opposite. In this case, the "put or pay obligation" requires the County to pay for nothing in return. Here, the County is obligating itself and its tax payers to pay a contractor for every ton of garbage not delivered by the County.

• `` \_\_\_\_\_

• ...

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