IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

CASE NO. 66,187

JAN 2 1985 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA AND THE SEVERAL PROPERTY OWNERS, TAXPAYERS AND CITIZENS OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA INCLUDING NON-RESIDENTS OWNING PROPERTY OR SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, AND OTHERS HAVING OR CLAIMING ANY RIGHT, TITLE OR INTEREST IN PROPERTY TO BE AFFECTED BY THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS HEREIN DESCRIBED, OR TO BE AFFECTED IN ANY WAY THEREBY,

Appellants,

vs.

BROWARD COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court

of the Seventeenth Judicial
Circuit in and for Broward County,
Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

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

Period the County is authorized under Section 166.111, Florida Statutes, to issue the instant revenue bonds and secure the same by a pledge of the principal and interest coming due on the Government Obligations (See A. 259, Section 5). Should the tasks outlined in (a) to (f) above be completed in the future, the County, as required by the Judgment entered below, will validate any industrial development bonds it may seek to issue under Part II of Chapter 159 (See A. 260, Section 10). Only at that time, if ever, will it be appropriate to put the County to its proof as to compliance with the requirements of said Part II of Chapter 159.

For these reasons, the instant revenue bonds were appropriately issued and validated under Chapter 166, rather than Chapter 159. Accordingly, the Judgement of Validation should be affirmed.

POINT II

THE ARGUMENTS MADE BY APPELLANTS WITH RESPECT TO THE ADEQUACY OF NOTICE AND THE NATURE OF THE BONDS ARE WITHOUT MERIT

The State's main point consists of an attempt to cause confusion in these proceedings and then to use such self-created confusion as grounds for opposing validation. Together with related arguments scattered through the Intervenors' brief, this point continues the pattern established by appellants below of confusing the authorized revenue bonds issued under Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, and the possible future issue of industrial development bonds under Chapter 159, Florida Statutes.

Appellants understand full well, and have understood from the start, the differences between the two.

Appellants recognize that the only subject of this proceeding is the Chapter 166 revenue bond issue pursuant to Resolution No. 84-2053, that only such issue was validated below, and that there is no notice requirement for a resolution to authorize this issue. They know further that an issue of industrial development bonds under Chapter 159 is only a future possibility, is not the subject of this validation proceeding, has not been validated, and that any consideration of questions related to such an issue would be premature and would involve no case or controversy. Their use of quotations from the instant Resolution taken out of their proper context in order to drag the

potential Chapter 159 industrial development bond issue into this proceeding and then claim that it was the subject of the instant Resolution, as well as the validation below, is patently misleading and shows the lack of any meritorious grounds for opposing this issue of revenue bonds validated under Chapter 166.

The general and unfocused arguments in Point I of the State's brief make that point difficult to address specifically or substantively. It appears, however, that the thrust of the point is that inadequate notice was given to the parties, and to the public, that the Resolutions cited and this validation proceeding would authorize the issuance of revenue bonds under Chapter 166, rather than industrial development bonds under Chapter 159. In the first instance, no authority is or can be cited establishing a requirement of notice for a resolution authorizing a Chapter 166 offering, such as the instant Resolution4. Moreover, it is clearly incorrect that neither the Resolutions nor the Complaint in this proceeding gave notice of the issuance of revenue bonds under Chapter 166, as opposed to industrial development bonds under Chapter 159. The very titles of the Resolutions, quoted by the State, belie the State's

Notice was in fact given, and arguably required, with respect to Resolution No. 84-964 (See A. 224-225, A. 254-256). In the circumstances of the adoption of that Resolution, however, the issuance of bonds in the form of industrial development bonds alone was contemplated (See discussion in Point I, supra). Moreover, that Resolution was adopted long before the determination of the form of financing adopted by the instant Resolution. Thus, the notice of Resolution No. 84-964 was neither misleading nor inadequate.

contention in that regard. Thus, the title of Resolution No. 84-964 indicates that it is merely "...DECLARING THE INTENTION OF BROWARD COUNTY TO PROVIDE FINANCING BY THE PROPOSED ISSUANCE OF INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS..." (A. 1, emphasis added). The instant Resolution states in relevant part that it is "AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE of...BROWARD COUNTY RESOURCE RECOVERY REVENUE BONDS..." Unlike Resolution No. 84-964, the instant Resolution contains no reference to "INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS", pertaining instead, to municipal revenue bonds (A. 10). Moreover, the body of the instant Resolution clearly distinguishes between the possible issuance of "industrial development bonds", specifically defined as such in Section 1(c) therein (A. 12), and the revenue bonds contemplated by the Resolution itself, defined in Section 3 therein (See A. 19 et seq.). Section 1(a) of the instant Resolution also specifically cites Section 166.111, Florida Statutes as an authority for the issuance of the revenue bonds5 (A. 10).

⁵ There is no merit to the suggestions by the State that the reference to this section of Chapter 166 was intended only to pertain to the possible issuance of "Special Obligation Bonds" mentioned later in the instant Resolution (A. 22). Nothing in the context of the reference to Section 166.111 suggests such a limitation. To the contrary, that section is relied on with specific reference to the issuance of "revenue bonds" (A. 11), the same term such "Special Obligation Bonds" used later in defining the "revenue bonds" being authorized, and later validated, by the instant Resolution (A. 19). The even later definition of "Special Obligation Bonds" contains no such reference to "revenue bonds". Moreover, it clearly provides that such "Special Obligation Bonds" are to be secured by a state created and granted fund of moneys collected from the half-cent sales tax (not revenues), and it distinguishes "Special Obligation

Similarly, the Complaint in this validation proceeding provided full and adequate notice of the nature of the bonds being validated. Thus, the title of the Complaint refers in relevant part to "RESOURCE RECOVERY REVENUE BONDS OF BROWARD COUNTY" rather than industrial development bonds (A. 32). It then distinguishes, in a manner virtually indentical to that of the instant Resolution, between "industrial development bonds", defined in paragraph IV therein (A. 34), and "revenue bonds", defined and referred to in paragraphs XVI, XVIII, XXIII therein (A. 39 et seq.) and elsewhere throughout. Like the instant Resolution, paragraph II of the Complaint places reliance on Section 166.111, Florida Statutes (A. 33). Likewise, the published notice of the Complaint refers in relevant part to "RESOURCE RECOVERY REVENUE BONDS OF BROWARD COUNTY", rather than industrial development bonds (A. 74)6.

Bonds" from the revenue bonds being issued (and authorized by Section 166.111). Finally, the definition indicates that the issuance of the "Special Obligation Bonds" is merely a future contingency (A. 22). In other words, a fair and thorough reading of the instant Resolution as opposed to the piecemeal quotation of excerpts taken out of context found in the State's brief, establishes that Chapter 166 was cited as authority for the actual issuance of the revenue bonds, rather than the possible issuance of Special Obligation Bonds.

Even if the Complaint and related notice were misleading as appellants suggest, no prejudice resulted therefrom. All issues related to the issuance of revenue bonds under Chapter 166 were tried and briefed below (See, e.g., A. 328, 334, 337-340, 343, 347, 352; A. 221-238). Appellants do not point to any argument that was not made because of inadequate notice, nor do they point out any prejudice resulting therefrom.

Perhaps the best proof that the nature of the revenue bonds was adequately described in the Resolutions and the Complaint can be found in the answers filed by the State itself. Notwithstanding contrary arguments in its brief, the State's answers consistently refer to "revenue bonds", rather than industrial development bonds (A. 81-85). The very premise of the State's initial point on appeal is that such a distinction is not only meaningful but is one which should properly be made in any legal document. Moreover, in its Supplemental Answer, the State specifically recognized in paragraphs 1, 4 and 5 that authorization for the validated bonds was premised by the County, at least in part, on Section 166.111, Florida Statutes (A. 84-The State nonetheless quotes segments from the instant Resolution out of context so as to suggest that it appeared to be authorizing the issuance of industrial development bonds. discussed above and in Point I, the instant Resolution authorizes the issuance of revenue bonds, not industrial development bonds, and says so in as many words. Thus, there can be no doubt that, until the need for argument on this appeal, neither the State nor anyone else was in any way misled by the Complaint in this proceeding or by Resolutions with regard to the nature of the revenue bonds at issue.

The findings and Judgment of the circuit court further establish that there was no lack of adequate notice or ultimate understanding as to the issues of law and fact addressed below

(A. 259-260). Any confusion earlier caused by appellants was resolved at the hearing on validation?. This is reflected in the findings of the circuit court addressing, and rejecting, arguments made with respect to the issuance of revenue bonds under Chapter 166 (A. 359-370). This is evident especially in the court's finding that the bonds being validated were revenue bonds authorized by Section 166.111, without reliance at all on the County's alternative basis for issuance under Chapter 159 (A. 370). Similarly, the Judgment itself addresses and validates revenue bonds under Chapter 166 alone (A. 253, 259-261).

It is clear that the Judgment of validation was entered only after full and complete notice to the parties and the public, and that it properly held that the validated bonds were revenue bonds issued under the authority of Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, pursuant to the provisions of the instant Resolution. Accordingly, appellants' arguments to the contrary should be rejected and the Judgment affirmed.

Thus, the evidence and argument at the hearing clearly addressed the issuance of revenue bonds under Chapter 166. (See references cited in n.6, supra). Under Rule 1.190(b) of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, any deficiency in the Complaint was deemed corrected by amendment to conform to the evidence. Indeed, although not required, the rulings, findings and Judgment of the circuit court effectively recognized and allowed such amendment.

POINT III

THE COUNTY HAS THE AUTHORITY TO ACT AS A MUNICIPALITY AND THUS TO ISSUE MUNICIPAL REVENUE BONDS UNDER CHAPTER 166

Appellants' attempts to subject these revenue bonds to the requirements of Chapter 159 clearly result from their own recognition of the total lack of merit in arguing the County's lack of authority to proceed under Chapter 166. Thus, in Point III of its brief, the State argues that the County lacks the authority to operate as a municipality and consequently to issue municipal revenue bonds under Chapter 166. Appellants similarly urged this argument on the circuit court, but to no avail. The circuit court relied on well established precedents of Florida law with respect to charter county powers and rejected appellants' contentions. Both the Florida Constitution and the relevant decisions of this Court support the holding below and rebut entirely the State's arguments.

Article VIII of the Florida Constitution provides in relevant part that a charter county "shall have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law or with special law approved by vote of the electors" (See Art. VIII, § 1(g), Fla. Const.). This Court has broadly construed the constitutional provisions granting county powers. For example, this Court has held that a county's right to exercise municipal powers necessarily includes the powers to levy and collect taxes

and to borrow money. See State ex rel. Dade County v.

Brautigram, 224 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1969). Similarly, this Court had held that because a home rule county is vested with the rights and prerogatives of a regular municipality, it is empowered to do everything necessary to carry on a central metropolitan government. State ex rel. Dade County v. Dickinson, 230 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970). Most important, however, is this Court's holding in State ex rel. Volusia County v. Dickinson, 269 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1972). In that decision, this Court held that charter counties and municipalities are categorically the same and thus, a charter county is automatically a metropolitan entity for self government purposes. See 269 So.2d at 9. It was on the basis of Volusia that the circuit court herein affirmed the County's authority to issue the instant revenue bonds (A. 364-365).

The court below accepted unrebutted testimony that the County is a charter government (A. 365; A. Ex. B, at Section 1.03). The circuit court dismissed as immaterial any suggested distinction between home rule charters, the government structure involved in Volusia, and charter governments, such as that in Broward County (A. 364-365). Instead, the circuit court relied on Volusia and applied its holding to the County's power to issue revenue bonds under Chapter 166 (Id.).

Appellants' narrow reading of <u>Volusia</u>, as set out in Point III of the State's brief, is unjustified by the broad language of Volusia and by subsequent case law. Appellants contend that

Volusia's lumping together of "charter counties and municipalities" was for the specific purposes of Article VII, Section 9(a), of the Florida Constitution, relating to the power to levy and collect taxes. This reading simply ignores later case law in which this Court held that the State Constitution has delegated to counties broad powers, especially with respect to the authority to enact ordinances authorizing revenue bond issues, so as to avoid special bills before the State legislature. See, e.g., State v. Orange County, 281 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1973). While appellants correctly point out that Volusia cites Section 9(a) of Article VII of the Florida Constitution, they have disregarded the wide scope of this Court's deductive reasoning:

... Article VIII provides a charter county 'shall have <u>all</u> powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law....' This all inclusive language unquestionably vests in a charter county the authority to levy any tax not inconsistent with general or special law as is permitted municipalities [emphasis supplied].

Read together, Sections 9(a) ... and 1(g) ... clearly connote the principle that unless precluded by general or special law, a charter county may without more under authority of existing general law impose by ordinance any tax in the area of its tax jurisdiction a municipality may impose [emphasis added].

... As we have noted, similar authority is logically reposed in any county becoming a home rule charter county by the all-inclusive language of Article VIII of the 1968 Revised Constitution. Non-charter counties, on the other hand, shall only have the power of self-government as is provided by general or special law. Section 1(f), Article VIII, State Constitution [emphasis added].

269 So.2d at 11. Thus <u>Volusia</u> reasons from the broad rule to the specific power encompassed therein. Appellants' attempt to limit the case otherwise is in blatant disregard of the overall opinion.

The State argues further in Point III of its brief that the powers granted to municipalities and charter governments are separate and distinct since they are granted by separate and distinct provisions of the State Constitution. In support for this view, it asserts that a statute "excludes from its operation all things not expressly mentioned. This empty contention ignores the fact that Section 1(g), Article VIII, of the Florida Constitution grants to charter governments, such as the County's, all the powers of local self-government. Furthermore, as described above, this Court in Volusia broadly interpreted the powers of charter governments. The circuit court found that Volusia remains good law and appellants have not argued otherwise Their remaining contention in Point III is, therefore, merely another attempt to cloud the otherwise clear issue of the County's authority.

For these reasons, appellants' arguments respecting the County's authority to act under Chapter 166 should be rejected and the Judgement of Validation affirmed.

POINT IV

THE ISSUES RAISED BY THE APPELLANTS WITH RESPECT TO THE PROSPECTIVE PLEDGE OF THE HALF-CENT SALES TAX TO SPECIAL OBLIGATION BONDS ARE WITHOUT MERIT

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